
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: May 12, 2022 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the April 14, 2022, meeting minutes [ACTION]  .....................................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the May 12, 2022, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ | #22-06 | Napoleon Township rezoning [ACTION]  ................................................................  5 

(2) CZ | #22-07 | Napoleon Township rezoning [ACTION]  ..............................................................  23 

(3) CZ | #22-08 | Napoleon Township rezoning [ACTION]  ..............................................................  39 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business – None 

b. New business – None 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

 

 

The next scheduled meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is June 9, 2022 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #1

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #2



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING MINUTES 

April 14, 2022 
5th Floor Commission Chambers ● Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Mr. Eric Beda, Industry and Economics; Mr. Timothy Burns, At Large; Ms. Nancy 
Hawley, At Large; Mr. Ted Hilleary, Education; Mr. Russ Jennings, At Large; and 
Mr. Jim Videto, Agriculture 

 Members Absent: Mr. Roger Gaede, Environment; Ms. Pat Gallagher, At Large; and Mr. Corey Ken-
nedy, Jackson County Board of Commissioners 

 Liaisons Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, Principal Planner, and Mr. Stephen Bezold, Associate Planner 

 Others Present: Mr. Jeromy Alexander and Mr. John Spencer 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Hawley called the meeting to order at 6:00 
p.m. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2. Public Comment. Mr. Spencer stated he was in attendance concerning the Solar Energy 
Ordinance in Leoni Township. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. Comm. Videto made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to ap-
prove the March 10, 2022, meeting minutes as presented. The motion was approved unani-
mously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. Comm. Burns made a motion, seconded by Comm. Beda, to ap-
prove the April 14, 2022, meeting agenda as presented. The motion was approved unani-
mously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s).  

(1) CZ | #22-04 | Leoni Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed text amendments pertaining to 
‘Solar Energy Systems’. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to recommend 
disapproval of the proposed text amendments (please see the staff report); the pro-
posed amendments need significant changes before they are approved. Comm. 
Hawley voiced concerns over the need for section and article numbers as well as 
other issues summarized by staff. Comm. Beda asked what the community thought. 
Comm. Jennings said he understood that the Township Board will refer the amend-
ments to the Township Attorney who will address the deficiencies. Comm. Videto 
saw a lot of holes in the amendments. 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #3



4/14/22 JCPC Minutes Page 2 
 

Comm. Jennings made a motion, seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to concur with the 
staff advisement to recommend disapproval of the proposed text amendments re-
garding ‘Solar Energy Systems’ to the Leoni Township Board (please see the staff re-
port). The motion was approved unanimously. 

(2) CZ | #22-05 | Spring Arbor Township 

Staff summarized his report regarding the proposed text amendments pertaining to 
‘Owner Occupied Businesses’. Staff advised County Planning Commissioners to rec-
ommend approval of the proposed text amendments (please see the staff report). 
In response to a question asked by Comm. Beda, staff stated that the amendments 
add a new use rather than taking away anything. Comm. Videto thinks the new use 
should be available to an owner and their immediate family. 

Comm. Burns made a motion, seconded by Comm. Jennings, to recommend ap-
proval with commissioner comments of the proposed text amendments regarding 
‘Owner Occupied Businesses’ to the Spring Arbor Township Board (please see these 
meeting minutes). The motion was approved unanimously. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). None. 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

a. Unfinished Business – None. 

b. New Business.  

(1) 2021 JCPC Annual Report. Staff summarized the annual report. 

Comm. Beda made a motion, seconded by Comm. Videto, to approve the 2021 JCPC 
Annual Report as presented. The motion was approved unanimously. 

(2) Staff announced the release of a notice of intent to prepare a master plan by Colum-
bia Township. 

Item 7. Public Comment. None. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. Comm. Hawley provided Commissioners, staff, and guests with 
a flyer regarding a class offered by Michigan State University Extension (MSUE) on ‘Planning 
and Zoning for Solar Energy Systems’. A session is scheduled in Jackson on May 24. 

Item 9. Adjournment. Chair Hawley adjourned the meeting at 6:42 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #4



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #22-06 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: May 4, 2022 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Section 35 (T3S-R1E) of Napoleon Township 

Request 
Four units in the Fox Farm Professional Plaza Site Condominium—ID #089-14-35-100-002-00, ID #089-
14-35-100-003-00, ID #089-14-35-100-004-00, and ID #14-35-100-005-00—are proposed for rezoning 
from ‘local commercial (LC)’ to ‘multi-family residential (RM)’ (see Figure 1 and the background infor-
mation). 

Purpose 
The applicant wishes to develop the vacant condominium lots as residential units, both single-family and 
duplex.1. Several lots in the condominium development have already been rezoned ‘RM’. 

Location and Size of the Property 
The 4 condominium units have a combined area of 5.77 acres. They are located in Section 35 (T3S-R1E) 
of the Township, on the south side of Brooklyn Road (M-50), east of Silkworth Boulevard (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The condominium units are vacant. The Township currently assesses them as 
‘commercial vacant’ (see Figure 2). Properties on the north side of M-50 are assessed for residential pur-
poses. Lots assessed for ‘commercial’ and ‘commercial vacant’ uses are located to the east. Lots to the 
south are assessed for ‘residential’ uses and as ‘agricultural vacant’. Lots to the west are assessed as 
‘residential vacant’ and ‘residential’. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Napoleon Township Master Plan places the condominium lots on the 
western edge of a corridor along the southern edge of M-50 recommended for ‘commercial’ uses (see 
Figure 3). ‘High-density residential’ is proposed on the north side of M-50. ‘Open space/residential’ uses 
are proposed for the properties located to the south and the west. 

Current Zoning – The condominium units are currently zoned ‘local commercial (LC)’, according to the 
Township, even though the zoning map already has them zoned ‘multi-family residential (RM) (see Fig-
ure 4). Properties on the north side of M-50 are zoned ‘rural residential (RR)’ and ‘single-family residen-
tial (R-1)’. Properties to the east are zoned ‘local commercial (LC)’ and ‘general commercial (GC)’. Other 
units to the south in the Fox Farm Professional Plaza Site Condominium are already zoned ‘multiple-fam-
ily residential (RM)’. 

                                                 
1 Please note that this report lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Do no utilize it in making the rezoning deci-
sion. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed zoning 
designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #5



CZC | #22-06 Page 2 
 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal sewer and water services are not available to the condo-
minium units. Nor does the Township plan to make them available. 

Public Road/Street Access – Foxworth Court, a county local roadway, provides direct access to the 
condominium lots. Silkworth Boulevard connects to Brooklyn Road (M-50), a state highway located to 
the north. 

Environmental Constraints – The condominium units have no known environmental constraints, ac-
cording to the Township. 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Napoleon Township Planning Commis-
sion recommends approval of the proposed rezoning of the 4 condominium lots to ‘multi-family resi-
dential (RM)’ (see the attached zoning amendment form). 

Staff Analysis – Napoleon Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The Future Land Use Plan (an element of the Master Plan) recommends ‘commercial’ uses 

for the condominium units (see Figure 3). However, it should be noted that they are located at 
the western edge of that proposed commercial area. 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. Several of the units in the Fox Farm Professional Plaza Site Condominium have already been 

rezoned ‘multi-family residential (RM)’. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Public services and facilities are not likely to be significantly impacted by the rezoning. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. As stated above, several of the units in the Fox Farm Professional Plaza Site Condominium 

have already been rezoned ‘multi-family residential (RM)’. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed rezoning is compatible 
with other zones and uses in the surrounding area. Based upon this 
analysis, staff advises the Planning Commission to recommend AP-
PROVAL to the Napoleon Township Board of the proposed rezoning 
to ‘multi-family residential (RM)’. The edge of the area along the 
south side of M-50 proposed for ‘commercial’ uses should be ad-
justed eastward the next time the Future Land Use Map is 
amended. 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Napoleon Township  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #6



CZC | #22-06 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #7



CZC | #22-06 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #8



CZC | #22-06 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Aerial Photo 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #9



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #10



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #11

gbauman
Typewriter
X

gbauman
Typewriter
22    06



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #12



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #13



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #14



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #15



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #16



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #17



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #18



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #19



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #20



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #21



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #22



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #22-07 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: May 4, 2022 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Section 33 (T3S-R1E) of Napoleon Township 

Request 
The applicant wishes to create four ‘single-family residential (R-1)’ lots at the intersection of Clark Lake 
Road and Wheaton Road, utilizing all of 1 subject property—ID #000-14-33-101-002-00— and small por-
tions of 2 other subject properties—ID #000-14-33-101-003-00 and ID #000-14-33-101-004-00—(see Fig-
ure 1 and the background information). The reconfigured lots will meet the dimensional requirements of 
the ‘R-1’ district. 

Purpose 
The applicant wishes to create 4 ‘single-family residential (R-1)’ building lots. 

Location and Size of the Property 
The 4 proposed building lots have a combined area of 4.15 acres. They are located in Section 33 (T3S-
R1E), in the southeast corner of the intersection of Clark Lake Road and Wheaton Road (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – Proposed ‘parcel A’ already contains a dwelling while proposed ‘parcel B’, ‘parcel 
C’, and ‘parcel D’ are vacant. The Township currently assesses the underlying subject properties as ‘resi-
dential’ (see Figure 2). Other properties abutting the proposed parcels are also assessed ‘residential’. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Napoleon Township Master Plan places the proposed building lots in an 
area recommended for ‘open space/residential’ uses (see Figure 3). ‘High-density residential’ is pro-
posed on the west side of Clark Lake Road. 

Current Zoning – Most of the area comprising the 4 building lots is zoned ‘rural residential (RR)’. How-
ever, smaller portions are zoned ‘agricultural (AG-1)’. Properties to the north and west are already 
zoned ‘R-1’ or ‘multi-family residential (RM)’ (see Figure 4). 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal sewer and water services are not available to the pro-
posed building lots. Nor does the Township plan to make them available. 

Public Road/Street Access – Wheaton Road, a county local roadway, provides direct access to pro-
posed building lot ‘A’. Clark Lake Road, a county primary roadway, provides direct access to proposed 
building lots ‘B’, ‘C’, and ‘D’. 

Environmental Constraints – The new lot has no known environmental constraints, according to the 
Township. 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #23



CZC | #22-07 Page 2 
 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Napoleon Township Planning Commis-
sion recommends approval of the rezoning of the 4 proposed building lots to ‘single-family residential 
(R-1)’ (see the attached zoning amendment form). 

Staff Analysis – Napoleon Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

Yes. The Future Land Use Plan (an element of the Master Plan) recommends ‘open space/resi-

dential’ uses for the 4 proposed building lots (see Figure 3). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. Residential development is already located on the north side of Wheaton Road. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Public services and facilities are not likely to be significantly impacted by the rezoning. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. As stated above, residential development is already located on the north side of Wheaton 

Road. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed rezoning conforms to the 
Napoleon Township Master Plan, which recognizes ‘open space/res-
idential’ development at the intersection of Clark Lake Road and 
Wheaton Road. Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Planning 
Commission to recommend APPROVAL to the Napoleon Township 
Board of the proposed rezoning to ‘single-family residential (R-1)’. 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Napoleon Township 

  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #24



CZC | #22-07 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #25



CZC | #22-07 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #26



CZC | #22-07 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Aerial Photo 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #27



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #28



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #29

gbauman
Typewriter
22    07

gbauman
Typewriter
X



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #30



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #31



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #32



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #33



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #34



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #35



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #36



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #37



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #38



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #22-08 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: May 4, 2022 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Section 18 (T3S-R1E) of Napoleon Township 

Request 
A large land-locked property—ID #000-14-18-326-001-00—is proposed for rezoning from ‘general indus-
trial (GI)’ to ‘agricultural (AG-1)’ (see Figure 1 and the background information). 

Purpose 
The applicant wishes to allow the farming of the subject property. 

Location and Size of the Property 
The subject property has an area of 80 acres. It is located in Section 18 (T3S-R1E) of the Township (see 
Figure 1). Leoni Township borders the property to the north. US-127 is located nearby to the west. 
South Street is located nearby to the east. 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The subject parcel is vacant. The Township currently assesses it as ‘residential va-
cant’, as are properties to the north in Leoni Township (see Figure 2). Properties to the east are assessed 
as ‘residential’, ‘agricultural’, and ‘agricultural vacant’. Properties to the south are assessed for ‘indus-
trial’ use. Properties to the west are assessed ‘industrial vacant’ and ‘residential vacant’. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Napoleon Township Master Plan places the subject property in an area 
recommended for ‘heavy industrial’ uses (see Figure 3). 

Current Zoning – The subject property is zoned ‘general industrial (GI)’, as are properties to the south 
and west. Properties to the north, in Leoni Township, are zoned ‘suburban residential (RS)’. Properties 
to the east are zoned ‘rural residential (RR)’ and ‘agricultural (AG-1)’ (see Figure 4). 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal sewer and water services are not available to the subject 
parcel. Nor does the Township plan to make them available. 

Public Road/Street Access – The subject property is landlocked and has no direct access to a public 
roadway. 

Environmental Constraints – The subject parcel contains floodplains, according to the Township. 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #39



CZC | #22-08 Page 2 
 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Napoleon Township Planning Commis-
sion recommends approval of the rezoning of the subject property to ‘agricultural (AG-1)’ (see the at-
tached zoning amendment form). 

Staff Analysis – Napoleon Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The Future Land Use Plan (an element of the Master Plan) recommends ‘heavy industrial’ 

uses for subject property (see Figure 3). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. An adjacent property to the east—owned by the applicant— is still zoned ‘agricultural (AG-

1) (see Figure 4). 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Public services and facilities are not likely to be significantly impacted by the rezoning. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. Although the long-term use of the property is recommended to be ‘heavy industrial’, there 

is no reason for the property not to be farmed in the meantime. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed rezoning is compatible 
with other zones and uses in the surrounding area. Based upon this 
analysis, staff advises the Planning Commission to recommend AP-
PROVAL to the Napoleon Township Board of the proposed rezoning 
to ‘agricultural (AG-1)’. 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Napoleon Township 

  

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #40



CZC | #22-08 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #41



CZC | #22-08 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #42



CZC | #22-08 Page 5 
 

Figure 5 

Aerial Photo 

 

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #43



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #44



- 000-14-18-326-001-00

05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #45

gbauman
Typewriter
22     08

gbauman
Typewriter
X



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #46



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #47



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #48



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #49



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #50



05/12/22 JCPC Agenda Packet Page #51




